No. 97643-1

### Washington State Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL W. WILLIAMS,
APPELLANT/PETITIONER,

v.

DEPT. OF CORRECTIONS, RESPONDANT/DEFENDANT

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Michael W. Williams DOC# 882945 Appellant/Petitioner, Pro Se Coyote Ridge Corrections Center PO Box 769: FB-35 Commell, WA. 99326-0769

###

#### I. IDENTITY OF APPELLANT

1.1 Michael W. Williams is the Appellant/Petitioner in the above referenced action. He seeks review of the dismissal of his 2nd Appeal After Remand because: (1) The dismissal is based on actions and orders of the Clerk of the Court of Appeals. Divison II that are in conflict with published decisions of the Washington Supreme Court (2) The case poses significant questions of statutory law of the State of Washington. And (3) It involves an issues of great public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court given the stated purpose of the Public Records Act and errors of law and fact by the trial judge and Court of Appeals staff.

### II. CITATION TO THE

### COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr Williams now requests that the Washington Supreme Court

Discretionary Review Pg.1

review the order by the Clerk of the Court of Appeals, Division II., dated May 21 2019 imposing sanctions and seeking dismissal and/or further sanctions, (attached as Exhibit A), because it is based on actions by the Clerk that are in conflict of the Supreme Court's long-standing, published rulings regarding placing substance over form and substantial compliance with the Rules on Appeal. It involves significant questions of law under the PRA, and of great public interest given the stated purpose of the Public Records Act, the history of the case, actions of the Respondant, and by the Court of Appeals staff in conflict with well-established rules, violating the appearance of fairness doctrine because no resonably disinterested third party with knowledge of the law (the PRA), the Rules on Appeal, and prevailing rulings by the Washinton Supreme Court could find that Mr Williams had fair treatment at the hands of the Court Clerk s Office, such that the Clerk s sanctions and dismissal of Mr Willimas' meritorious appeal necessitate the revisory powers of the Supreme Court in the interest of justice.

Furthermore. Mr Williams requests that the Supreme Court review the Commissioner's Conditional Ruling of Dismissal dated June 17, 2019 (See Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling, Ex.10) because it is predicated on the Court Clerk's actions taken in violation of long-standing Supreme Court Rulings, as was the panel of judge's order of denial without findings of fact or

conclusions of law dated August 30, 2019 and constitute a manifest injustice.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 3.1 Should the Washington Supreme Court use it's revisory powers and set aside the Court of Appeals sanctions and dismissal of Mr Williams' 2nd appeal after remand in the interest of justice and to serve the public good?
- 3.2 Should the Washington Supreme Court retain this action and in the interest of justice and judicial economy make ruling on the issues of: (1) explanation of withholdings by an agency; (2) Bad Faith; (3) award of daily penalties; and (4) Award Mr Williams all costs and fees he has incurred at all judicial level in asserting his rights under the Public Records Act?
- 3.3 Should the Washington Supreme Court retain this action and make declaratory judgement on the issue of the appelication CR 68 offers of judgement when agency action is unreasonable and the current prevailing caselaw as applied to the PRA is in violation of the long-standing Common Law Forfeiture Doctrine because it allows an agency to benefit from it s own wrongdoing and penalizes citizens for seeking relief congruent with the PRA and its stated purpose?

### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 4 1 Appellant Michael W. Williams made a PRA request to the DOC's Public Records Unit ("PRU") seeking a copy of the contract the DOC had entered into with "J-Pay". The PRU made a 5-day response on 3/22/2016 setting a date for disclosure.
- 4.2 Simultaneous to its response letter the PRU requested a copy of the J-Pay Contract from the DOC's Contracts Department and received it back the same day from Contracts but waited until May 4, 2016 when it spent aprox. 1/2-hour to make redactions including supervisor review.
- 4.3 On May 6 2016 the DOC's PRU made disclosure of the responsive records and asked for payment.
- 4 4 The PRU provided Mr Williams with a copy of the J Pay Contract containing 64 redacted provisions including two provisions (Appendices 2.01 and 2.01.1) that were identical but redacted in two different way allowing for comparison. Along with an exemption log with generic exemptions identifying as "20" and "27" with a bare citation to the underlying claimed statutory exemptions of RCW 42 56 240(1); .420(2); and .270(11) without explaining how the statute applied or related to the specific provisions withheld by redaction.

- 4.5 Mr Williams filed a PRA action in the Thurston County Superior Court which was assigned Case No. 16-2-07248-34. On 1/27/2017 a Show Cause hearing was held, Judge Christopher Lanese presiding. The trial court issued an order of dismissal finding no violation of the Act.
- 4.6 The DOC has removed all treatises and other reference on how to file an appeal, except the RAPs which are not listed in the computer reference directory requiring a party to already know what a RAP is and how to reference them via a reverse search of the legal database. This has caused difficulties for Mr Williams in filing the above referenced appeals. Mr Williams did file a timely appeal to the COA Divsion II which was accepted and assigned the Case No.50079-5-II
- 4 7 Mr Williams paid filing fees, ordered and paid for Clerk s Papers from the Superior Court Clerk who provided a set to the Court of Appeals but not Mr Williams.
- 4 8 Mr Williams filed extensive pleading in Case No. 500795-II that substantially complied with the RAPs and made reference
  to the record itself but not the Clerk's Papers. The reviewing
  court accepted his pleadings and was able to come to a decision
  on the merits making a statutory construction analysis and
  comparison of Appendices 2 01 and 2 01 1.

- Appeals Division II made a ruling on the merits using Mr Williams pleadings that were in substantial compliance with the rules on appeal. The panel made two rulings pertinent to this discretionary review. First, the COA used the correct process and made a statutory contruction analysis of the redacted provisions of Appendices 2.01 and 2.01.1 comparing the two and finding that the Dept. of Corrections violated the PRA, Secondly the court held that the DOC provided a sufficient brief explanation.
- 4.10 Mr Williams entered into good faith negotiations with the DOC regarding settlement for its violation of the PRA when negotiations broke down Mr Williams filed a late Cost Bill on grounds that normally allow equitable tolling. The Cost Bill was based on well-accepted processes and amounts including \$2 per page for original documents submitted to the court per the Supreme Court's ruling in In re the Matter of \$2 per page. The Cost Bill was granted by the Commissioner with the DOC's pleadings and Commissioner's Order crossing in the mail. The DOC filed a Motion to Modify, the panel of judges made what amounted to no ruling but remanded it back to the Commissioner with directions to consider the additional pleadings. Over a year later the Commissioner has not dealt with the remand effectively denying Mr Williams recovery of the costs, creating a financial barrier to him accessing the courts for this second appeal after

remand to the trial court.

- 4 11 On April 11 2018 the DOC made a post-loss CR 68 Offer of Judgement making Mr Williams an offer of \$10 plus recovery of awardable costs and fees for its 662 days of unlawfull withholding. (See Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling, Ex.1).
- ruling of violation the DOC sent Mr Williams an unredacted copy of the J Pay Contract which he received on 2/27/2018 by
  Institutional Legal Mail Establishing the penalty period as starting May 6, 2016 and ending February 27, 2018 a total of 662 days. It also demonstrates that none of the claimed statutory exemptions apply to any of the 64 redacted provisions. Mr
  Williams submitted a copy of the unredacted record to the trial court with his Opening Brief on Remand as Exhibit 2 and a copy of the redacted copy as Exhibit 3.
- 4.13 In his Opening Brief on Remand Mr Williams asked Judge Lanese to reverse his award of \$200 in costs to the DOC because it was in error (See pages 6-7, 23). Mr Williams also properly submitted a Cost Bill to the Court for the original trial (See Exhibit 7; Transcript Pg.6, lines 20-25).
  - 4.14 On July 13 2019 Judge Lanese held a hearing on remand

from the Court of Appeals. No testimony was taken and only documents were submitted. Again, predicated on his personal belief that no violation of the PRA happened despite the Court of Appeals ruling and the unredacted record, Judge Lanese continued to believe there was no violation of the PRA and thus would not make a finding of bad faith or award of penalties and costs. (See Transcript pg 7 lines 13-19).

- 4 15 What the flat word of the transcript does not convey is Judge Lanese's unjudicial tone and tenor during the remand hearing which very well may constitute violation of the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine because no reasonably disinterested person having knowledge of the facts of the case and the Public Records Act could come to a conclusion that Mr Williams received a fair hearing in front of judge Lanese.
- 4.16 Mr Williams was forced to file a second appeal and incurred a second filing fee, paid for a second set of Clerk s

  Papers which again were provided to the Court of Appeals but not Mr Williams by the trial court, and a transcript along with other costs to appeal, many of which the Respondant generates a profit on such as photocopies and typing supplies.
- 4 17 On October 1, 2018 the Thurston County Superior Court forwarded a copy of the Clerk's Papers to the Court of Appeals

Division II but only provided Mr Williams the index sheet. (See Motion to modify Commissioner's Ruling, Ex.2).

- 4 18 The Court of Appeals misfiled the Clerk's Papers in the predessor case file, (50079-5-II). On January 15 2019 the Court of Appeals sent Mr Williams a letter threatening sanctions for not perfecting the appeal by filing a set of Clerk's Papers. (See Motion To Modify Commissioner's Ruling, Ex.3)
- 4 19 Mr Williams contacted the Court of Appeals and reminded them that this was a second appeal and suggested they had misfiled the Clerk s Papers with the original appeal. (See Motion to Modify Commissioner s Ruling Ex.4).
- 4 20 On February 7, 2019 the Court of Appeals sent Mr Williams a letter acknowledging the misfiling of the Clerk s Papers. (See Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling Ex.5).
- 4 21 On March 28, 2019 by Institutional Legal Mail in accordance with GR 3 l including a Declaration of Mailing and dulpicating the method of substantial compliance he utilized in the original appeal (50079-5 II), which had been accepted by and ruled on the merits in his favor, Mr Williams filed his Opening Brief with the Court of Appeals which substantially complied with the court rules. (See Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling Ex.6).

- 4.22 Mr Williams received a letter of deficiences from the court of appeals. (See Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling, Ex.4).
- 4.23 Mr Williams not having a copy of the Clerk's Papers
  (See Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling, Ex.4), on April 14,
  2019 filed a New Opening Brief, substantially complying with
  court rules and containing all the information via exhibits
  necessary for a panel of judges to come to a ruling on the
  merits. (See Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling, Ex.4,7).
- 4.24 Mr Williams received a letter dated April 30, 2019 threatening sanctions stating:

"The brief you submitted to this Court in this matter does not conform to the content and form requirements set out in the Rules of Appellate Procedure for one or more of the following reaseons:

- \* Brief does not cite to the record. RAP 10.3(a)(5).
- \* Title of the brief should be Opening Brief of Appellant.
- \* There is no proof of servie to Washington Dept. of Corrections.

The Court will not file the brief as part of the offical record but will stamp it and place it in the pouch without filing. Therefore, you must re-serve a corrected brief by May 15, 2019."

(See Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling, Ex.8).

4.25 On 5/3/2019 Mr Williams made a pre paid call to the Court of Appeals, Division II from the CRCC in order to try to clarify exactly what the case manager "Jodie" actually wanted but the call was refused by the Court Office. Mr Williams called back

later and talked with "Jodie" who insisted that referring to the record means citing to the Clerk's Papers exclusively. She offered to provide a set if he paid a fee of \$96.70 for copies and postage. The DOC phone system s security disconected the call. (See Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling, Ex.4).

- 4.26 Having depleated his resources advancing this protracted meritorious action incurring aprox. \$2000 in costs off his inmate spendable account Mr Williams sought help from a friend (Jane Murphy), who made multiple attempts to pay for the Clerk s Papers on Mr Williams' behalf but the Clerk s Office repeatedly rejected the \$96.70 from her and returned the money only notifying him after the third time payment was rejected. (See Motion to Modify Comm rs Ruling Ex.4; 9).
- 4 27 On May 21 2019 after refusing Ms Murphy s payment on Mr Williams behalf the Clerk s Office sent another letter threatening sanctions after creating a situation where he could not comply with their demands (See Motion to Modify Commr s Ruling Ex.4).
- 4.28 Based on the Clerk's actions and Motion, on June 17
  2019 the Court Commissioner issued a Conditional Ruling of
  Dismissal predicated and initiated by the Court of Appeals'
  Clerk's Office. (See Motion to Modify Commr's Ruling, Ex.4; 10)

- 4.29 Mr Williams filed a Motion to Modify the Commissioner's Rulings on July 29 2019 It was accepted for review by a panel of judges with a response scheduled for July 29, 2019 with Mr Williams having seven days to file his reply (See Motion to Modify & Reconsideration Ex.1).
- 4 30 The A.G's Office filed a nonconforming Response Brief on July 24 2019 by electronic submission to the court but served Mr Williams by mail. (See Motion to Modify & Reconsideration, Ex.2). The Response was delivered to him on July 29 2019 by Institutional Legal Mail. Mr Williams filed a timely Reply Brief in accordance with GR 3.1 on August 5, 2019
- 4.31 The Clerk wrongfully determined Mr Williams' Reply Brief to be untimely in violation of Supreme Court Rulings on service by mail and CR5(b)(2)
- 4 32 On August 30 2019 a panel of judges denied Mr
  Williams Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling without making
  findings of fact or conclusions of law for Mr Williams to appeal

### V. ARGUEMENT & PRESENTMENT OF LAW

Appellant/Petiitioner Michael W Williams alleges and

Discretionary Review Pg.12

incorporates by reference all facts and allegations contained inparagraphs 1.1 through 4.32 inclusive, the pleadings submitted in the underlying actions, and attached Exhibits containing Memoranda of Law as if fully argued herein. Furthermore Mr Williams alledges that:

## (1) The Standard of Review Is De Novo

(See Ex.B 1 2), because the sanctions and dismisal of Mr Williams appeal was based on the Clerk's faulty analysis of the Rules of Appeal and should be reanlyzed using standard rules of statutory construction (See Ex.B pgs 2 3), giving no deference to the Court of Appeals' rulings against Mr Williams. First, the plain language analysis demonstrate the Clerk's erroroneous claim that no reference to the record was made

RAP 10.3(a)(5), as provided to Mr Williams by the Respondant specifically says: "Statement of the Case. A fair statement of the facts and procedure relevent to the issues presented for review without argument. Reference to the record must be included for each factual statement." Since RAP 10.3(a)(5) makes no reference to Clerk a Papers and there are other forms of "record" other than Clerk a Papers, including reference to the actual pleadings, reference to Clerk a Papers cannot be required under RAP 10.3(a)(5). Thus, when Mr Williams made reference to

the record in the same manner that he did in case No. 50079-5-II he substantially comlied with the rules on appeal.

Secondly the Titling error where Mr Williams clearly in his brief submitted April 14 2019 was clearly titled as an "Opening Brief". Thirdly, the Clerk errored that Mr Williams submitted no proof of service when he filed in Opening Brief according to GR 3.1 including the appropriate Declaration of Mailing, (See Ex.C pgs 1-3; Motion to Modify Commr's Ruling Ex.7). Fourthly, this Court should take into consideration the Clerk s other errors including (1) Refusing payment of \$96 70 made for Mr Williams benefit to purchase a copy of the clerk s papers, (See Motion to Modify Commr s Ruling Ex 9); (2) The Clerk s threats of sanction and dismissal when the Cleuk s Papers had been ordered by Mr Williams but misfiled by the Clerk s Office with case no. 50079-5-II (3) The Clerk s wrongful refu al to file Mr Williams timely Reply Br ef on the misinterpretation of deadlines under CR 5(b)(2)(A) where the Clerk unlawfully shortened Mr Williams time to reply (See Ex C pgs 1 3); Motion to Modify & Reconsideration Ex.1)

Finally the Clerk's blantant disregard of long-standing Washington Supreme Court rulings on substantial compliance with the rules on appeal, (See Ex.B pgs 3-4). Because, our Supreme Court has said "A technical violation of the rules will not

justice can be better served by reaching the merits. See Green River Cmty Coll Dist No.10 v. Higher Educ Pers Ed 107 Wn2d 427, 431. (1986). The appellate court may "decied the case on the merits promoting substance over form." State v Clson 74 WnApp 126 129. (1994), aff d 126 Wn2d 315. (1995); State Farm Mut auto Ins Co. v Avery, 114 WnApp 299 310. (2002), nonetheless, we may address legal and factual issues that are improperly briefed when the basis for the claim is apparent State v. Young 89 Wn2d 613 625. (1978) (quoting De Herr v Seattle Post Intelligencer 60 Wn2d 122 126. (1962) (basis for error apparent without further research).

In total the Clerk's actions require the application of the "Appearance of Fairness Doctrine", (See Ex.D), and require this Court to determine if the Clerk's actions were quasi judicial or ministrial. Either way though in the interest of justice and public confidence in the courts, this Court should use its revisory powers and allow Mr Williams Opening Brief submitted April 14 2019 to move forward to a ruling on the merits.

(2) This Court Should Retain This Case
And Make Ruling On Bad Fiath
Daily Penalties, Recovery of Costs, And
Application Of CR 68

As in Youseufian v Office of Ron Sims, King County Exec.

168 Wn2d 444 468 69 (2010) Yousoufian IV), this court in dealing
with trial court errors said

"[T]he usual procedure is to remand to the trial court for imposition of the appropriate penalty Nonetheless, in light of the unique circumstances and procedural history of this case, we are inclind to set the daily penalty amount in the order to bring this dispute to a close."

Likewise, the case at hand poses a unique procedural history and set of facts that demonstrate that Mr Williams is unlikely to recieve fair, impartial, or judicial treatment in the trial court or court of appeals should the Supreme Court of Washington not retain this action and make ruling on the merits regarding these issues of extreme public importance under the PRA. In doing so this Court should either order additional briefing on the following subjects and/or taking into consideration Mr Williams' Openign Brief submitted April 14 2019 and this pleading and attached Memoranda of law.

## (A) The Court Should Declare The Violation Was Done In Bad Faith

See (Ex.E pgs 1-4), the DOC committed willful or wanton acts or omissions amounting to bad faith when knowing it had a statutory duty to only withhold "statutorially exempt records withheld 64 non-exempt" records in violation of the PRA for 662 days, and dispite that the DOC knew or should have know the records were non-exempt forced Mr Williams to go through lengthly proceedings in the trial court and the court of appeals to enforce his rights

were exempt actions which in hindsight amount to probable fraud on the court but at minimum amount to bad faith for purposes of RCW 42.56.565(1), facts that are virtually indistinguishable from those noted in Faulkner. 183 WnApp at 105 citing Francis, 178 WnApp at 63

# (B) This Court, Given The Facts & Procedural History Should Award Mr Williams Maximum Daily Penalties And Recovery of Costs

See, (Ex.F; Ex.F); Opening Brief (amended) submitted April 14

2019 pgs 24-33 Mr Williams believes the most equitable manner
to calculate daily penalties so on a per record, per day basis in

line with Wade's Eastside Gun Shop v Dept of L&I, 185 Wn2d 270

(2010). Setting a dailyt amount in the range of \$5-10 per record
per day for each of the 662 days of unlawfull withholding. This
takes into account the fact that the DOC reduces or evades its

liability for violation of Washington Statute under the PRA by
taking deductions from the judgement or settlements of inmate
requesters whole rights under the PRA have been violated by the
state obtaining a benefit from its own wrongdoing in violation
of the Common Law Doctrine of Forfeiture by Wrongdoing. (See
Ex.B).

Discretionary Review Pg. 17

In the alternative this Court should make daclaration that because of the Doctrine of Forfeiture by Wrongdoing the DOC cannot take deductions from the awards or settlements of inmate requesters then, the most equitable resolution would be to set an award amount of \$100/day for each of the 662 days in violation. This Court should also grant Mr Williams recovery of all costs and fees he has incurred at all levels, and for purposes of clarification Declare that all original documents will be recoverable at a rate of \$2 per page and all dulpicate copies of documents are recoverable at a rate of 20¢ per page because the DOC is inmates sole source of copies has set a rate of 20¢ per page under DOC 590.500. Mr Williams should also be allowed to recover all other costs and fees at rates incurred by him including resonable attorney fees.

## (C) Application of CR 68

While division III, in Ruflin v. City of Seattle, 199 WnApp 348, 360-63 (2017) said: "agencies may make a CR 68 offer of judgement in a PRA action." Divison Three's ill concienved ruling encourages misconduct by state agecnies against citizen requesters, such as in this case. The court focused on the reasonableness factor of RCW 42.56.550(4), but disregarded that there are times when CR 68 offers of judgement are not reasonable. Those include when the agency gives an offensive

resisting its known guilt. These times are in conflict with other rulings by the court. See e.g., Kitsap Cnty Pros. Attorny's Guild v.Kitap Cnty, 156 WnApp 110 118 (2010) ("State agencies may not resist disclosure of public records until suit is filed and then avoid paying penalties by disclosing them voluntarily theeafter. Spokane Reasearch & Def. Fund. 103 Wn2d at 103."). It also violates the Common Law Doctrine of Forfeiture by Wrongdoing to allow an agency to benefit from its statutory violations by awarding them costs when the agency violated the PRA. (See Ex.H).

### VI. CONCLUSION

- 6.1 This Court should set aside the Court of Appeals' sanctions of Mr Williams and Dismissal of his appeal and use his Opening Brief submitted April 14 2019 ruling on the merits, and retain this case for purposes of ruling on the issues of bad faith, daily penalties, recovery of costs, and application of CR 68 to PRA actions.
- 6.2 The Court should Declare that the DOC violated the PRA in bad faith and award Mr Williams daily penalties and all costs and fees he incurred at all levels of the action including \$2/page for original documents and 20¢/page for duplicates.
  - 6 3 The Court should Declare under what circumstances that

CR 68 Offers of Judgement are reasonable in PRA actions, and award Mr Williams daily penalties on a per record basis of \$5-10 per day for each of the 64 redacted records or as a low-end alternative, award \$100 per day for each of the 662 days the records were unlawfully denied.

- 6 4 This Court should Declare that the DOC's practice of taking deductions from PRA settlements and judgements violates the intent of the PRA and allows the state to benefit from violating the PRA contrary to the Common Law Doctrine of Porfeiture by Wrongdoing, and overturn the award of Costs in the amount of \$200 to the DOC from the original trial.
- 6 7 This Court should award Mr Williams any other form of relief it feels is in the interest of justice or equity and necessary to advance the purpose of the Public Records Act.

### VII. OATH

I, Michael W. Williams declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that the foregoing is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.