FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/1/2019 2:43 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97643-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL WILLIAMS,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MARKO L. PAVELA, WSBA #49160 Assistant Attorney General Corrections Division OID #90125 PO Box 40116 Olympia, WA 98504-0116 (360) 586-1445 Marko.Pavela@atg.wa.gov

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Michael Williams, attempted to file multiple briefs in the Court of Appeals, but the court rejected those briefs because they contained no citations to the record. The court has the discretion to reject such non-conforming briefs, which place an additional and undue burden on the court.

The Court of Appeals eventually issued a Conditional Ruling of Dismissal, which provided Mr. Williams one more opportunity to file a conforming brief. Rather than filing a third brief containing citations to the record, however, Mr. Williams moved to modify the Conditional Ruling of Dismissal.

A three Judge panel denied Williams' motion to modify; review of that denial is the lone issue appropriately raised to this Court. This Court should decline to reverse the Court of Appeals' denial of Mr. Williams' motion to modify.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Michael Williams, first attempted to file his "Opening Brief of Petitioner" under Court of Appeals Cause No. 52395-7-II on March 29, 2019. Appendix (App.) A. But the court did not file Mr. Williams' brief, and instead sent him a letter informing him that his brief did not conform to the requirements of the Rules of Appellate

Procedure. App. B. Among the deficiencies noted by the court was a statement that Mr. Williams' brief "[did] not cite to the record." *Id*. The court gave Mr. Williams until April 15, 2019 to submit and serve a corrected brief. *Id*.

Mr. Williams' next attempt, Opening Brief of Petitioner (Amended), was received by the Court of Appeals on April 15, 2019. App. A. But because Mr. Williams' amended brief was still without citation to the record, the court again refused to file Mr. Williams' brief, and sent him another letter pointing out the deficiencies within his brief, and informing him that he had until May 6, 2019 to submit and serve a corrected brief. App. C. The court later sent Mr. Williams another letter, extending this deadline to May 15, 2019. App. D.

Mr. Williams declined to submit and serve any corrected brief, and so on May 21, 2019 Court Clerk Derek Byrne sent Mr. Williams a letter warning him that sanctions and dismissal would result unless Mr. Williams filed an Opening Brief by June 5, 2019. App. E. Mr. Williams moved the Court of Appeals for more time to file his brief; that motion was rejected because Mr. Williams neglected to serve counsel for the Department of Corrections. App. F. On June 17, 2019, the court's Commissioner issued a conditional ruling of dismissal, noting that "it appears dismissal is

warranted, but that a brief grace period is also warranted," and providing Mr. Williams until June 24, 2019, to file his Opening Brief. App. G.

Rather than attempting to file an Opening Brief, Mr. Williams moved to modify the Commissioner's June 17, 2019 ruling; this motion was denied by a panel of three judges. App. H. Mr. Williams then moved to modify the denial of his prior motion to modify, which the Court of Appeals forwarded to this Court for consideration. App. I.

This Court provided Mr. Williams the opportunity to file a new brief in light of the transfer, which he did, and which this Court has indicated it will treat as a Petition for Review. App. J.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court will accept review of a Petition for Review only if the decision below conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, or if the case raises significant questions of constitutional law, or involves issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Acted Within Its Discretion When It Declined to Accept Mr. Williams' Non-Conforming Briefs and Conditioned His Right to Participate Further In Review on the Terms of Its Rulings

Rule of Appellate Procedure 10.3(a) sets forth the requisite "Content of Brief" for an appellant. Among these mandates is one that requires each

factual statement to be supported by reference to the record. RAP 10.3(a)(5). An appellate court may strike from the record briefs which fail to comply with these requirements. RAP 10.7; *Edwards v. Edwards*, 99 Wn.2d 913, 915 n.1, 665 P.2d 883 (1983). An appellate court may also levy sanctions upon an appellant who fails to comply with these rules, and may condition participation in review upon compliance with the terms of its rulings. RAP 18.9(a). Rule of Appellate Procedure 18.9(b) further authorizes dismissal of a case on a Commissioner's or Clerk's own motion. RAP 18.9(b).

Here, the briefs Mr. Williams submitted to the Court of Appeals were stricken on two occasions because they did not comply with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. App. B; App. D. In particular, and on each occasion, the Court Clerk took issue with the fact that Mr. Williams did not cite to the record, as required by RAP 10.3(a)(5). App. B; App. D. Mr. Williams does not argue that his briefs did contain citations to the record, but instead argues that he "substantially complied" with the court rules, and provided the court, via exhibits, with all the information "necessary for a panel of judges to come to a ruling on the merits." Petitioner's Motion for Discretionary Review at 8–9 (¶¶ 4.21, 4.23).

But the requirement for such cites is not a mere formality - briefs which fail to cite to the record can "[waste] the time of opposing counsel

and [hamper] the work of the court." *Hurlbert v. Gordon*, 64 Wn. App. 386, 401, 824 P.2d 1238, *review denied*, 119 Wn.2d 1015, 833 P.2d 1389 (1992); *See also Litho Color, Inc. v. Pacific Emp'rs Ins. Co.*, 98 Wn. App. 286, 306, 991 P2.d 638 (1999) ("failures to comply with the rules of appellate procedure exacts a heavy and unwarranted toll on the court's resources."); *See also Lawson v. Boeing Co.*, 58 Wn. App. 261, 271, 792 P.2d 545 (1990) ("The failure to cite to the record is not a formality. It places an unacceptable burden on opposing counsel and on this court."). ¹

It was within the Court of Appeal's discretion to strike from the record Mr. Williams' briefs, which did not cite to the record. RAP 10.3(a)(5); RAP 10.7; *Edwards*, 99 Wn.2d at 915 n.1. There is nothing here to suggest that the court exercised that discretion in a manner which was "manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds." *Gilmore v. Jefferson Cty. Pub. Transp. Benefit Area*, 190 Wn.2d 483, 494, 415 P.3d 212 (2018) (citations omitted) (reciting standard for abuse of discretion).

¹ These cases did all involve counsel, and Mr. Williams is litigating pro se. But Mr. Williams' pro se status and asserted "substantial compliance" with the rules should not entitle him to exception because pro se litigants in Washington State are bound by the same rules of procedure and substantive law as attorneys. *Patterson v. Superintendent of Pub. Instruction*, 76 Wn. App. 666, 671, 887 P.2d 411 (1994) (citing *In re Marriage of Olson*, 69 Wn. App. 621, 626, 850 P.2d 527 (1993)), *review denied*, 126 Wn.2d 1018, 894 P.2d 564 (1995); *see also Edwards v. Le Duc*, 157 Wn. App. 455, 460, 238 P.3d 1187 (2010) (citation omitted) (Trial court "must hold pro se parties to the same standards to which it holds attorneys.").

This Court should therefore decline to reverse the Court of Appeals' denial of Mr. Williams' motion to modify.

V. CONCLUSION

The Department respectfully requests that the Court deny Mr. Williams' Petition for Review.